
 

 
 

To: Members of the  
PLANS SUB-COMMITTEE NO. 4 

 

 Councillor Simon Fawthrop (Chairman) 
Councillor Will Rowlands (Vice-Chairman) 

 Councillors Felicity Bainbridge, Kathy Bance MBE, Peter Dean, Charles Joel, 
Kevin Kennedy-Brooks, Keith Onslow and Sam Webber 
 

 

 A meeting of the Plans Sub-Committee No. 4 will be held at Bromley Civic Centre on 
THURSDAY 14 SEPTEMBER 2023 AT 7.00 PM 

 

 TASNIM SHAWKAT 
Director of Corporate Services & Governance 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from 

 http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ 

 

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Stephen Wood 

   stephen.wood@bromley.gov.uk  

    

DIRECT LINE: 020 8313 4316   

FAX: 020 8290 0608  DATE: 5 September 2023 

Members of the public can speak at Plans Sub-Committee meetings on planning reports, 
contravention reports or tree preservation orders. To do so, you must have 

 already written to the Council expressing your view on the particular matter, and 
 indicated your wish to speak by contacting the Democratic Services team by no later than 

10.00am on the working day before the date of the meeting. 
 
These public contributions will be at the discretion of the Chairman. They will normally be limited to 
two speakers per proposal (one for and one against), each with three minutes to put their view 
across. 
 

To register to speak please telephone Democratic Services on 020 8313 
4316 
     ---------------------------------- 
If you have further enquiries or need further information on the content 
of any of the applications being considered at this meeting, please 
contact our Planning Division on 020 8313 4956 or e-mail 
planning@bromley.gov.uk 
     ---------------------------------- 
Information on the outline decisions taken will usually be available on 
our website (see below) within a day of the meeting. 
 
 
 

http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/


 
 

 
A G E N D A 

1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

3    CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 25TH MAY 2023  

(Pages 1 - 10) 

4    PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 

Report 

No. 

 
Ward 

Page 
No.  

 
Application Number and Address 

4.1 Bromley Common & Holwood; 11 - 38 (23/01969/FULL1) 26 Copthorne Avenue, 
Bromley, BR2 8NN.  

 

4.2 Bromley Town; 39 - 48 (23/02946/ADV) - Churchill Court Masons 
Hill, Bromley, BR1 1DP  

 

5   CONTRAVENTIONS AND OTHER ISSUES 
 

. 

 
None 

 

Page 
No.  

 
Application Number and Address 

6   TREE PRESERVATION ORDERS 

 

 

 

None 
 

Page 

No.  

 

Application Number and Address 

 The Council’s Local Planning Protocol and Code of Conduct sets out how planning applications are 
dealt with in Bromley. 

 
 

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50100704/Constitution%20Appendix%2011%20-%20Local%20Planning%20Protocol%20and%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf


1 
 

PLANS SUB-COMMITTEE NO. 4 

 

Minutes of the meeting held at 7.00 pm on 25 May 2023 
 

 
Present: 

 

Councillor Simon Fawthrop (Chairman) 
Councillor Will Rowlands (Vice-Chairman)  
 

Councillors Felicity Bainbridge, Peter Dean, Julie Ireland, 

Charles Joel, Kevin Kennedy-Brooks, Keith Onslow and 
Ryan Thomson 
 
 

 
Also Present: 

 

Councillors Michael Tickner, Kate Lymer and Chloe-Jane Ross 
 

 
 
23   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE 

MEMBERS 

 

Apologies were received from Cllr Sam Webber and Cllr Julie Ireland attended as 
substitute. 
 

Apologies were received from Cllr Kathy Bance and Cllr Ryan Thompson attended as 
substitute.   
 

24   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

Cllr Joel declared an interest in Item 4.2, as the objector was a close friend. He agreed to 
leave the room when this item was discussed.   
 

25   CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 23rd MARCH 2023 

 

The minutes of the meeting held on 23rd March 2023 were agreed and signed as a 
correct record.  
 

26   PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 

 
 
26.1 

BICKLEY & SUNDRIDGE; 

(21/03541/FULL1): 1 ST AUGUSTINE'S AVENUE, 

BICKLEY, BROMLEY, BR2 8AG 

 

Description of Application: Proposed demolition of 
existing bungalow and the construction of two pairs of 
semi-detached houses (4 x 2 bed units), with off street 

parking and amenity space.  
 

The Planning Officer explained that there would be 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Plans Sub-Committee No. 4 

25 May 2023 
 

2 

four on street parking bays subsequent to one being 
removed to allow construction access. It was 

proposed that four new dwellings would be built, each 
one with two bedrooms. The application was 

recommended for permission subject to the conditions 
outlined in the report. 
 

An oral representation in support of the application 
was received at the meeting. 

 
A discussion took place concerning the possible net 
loss of parking bays and the fact that the parking 

survey took place in the evening, whereas there was 
likely to be more congestion earlier, with clients 

visiting the dance studio. A Member asked if more 
parking could be provided and the agent responded 
that this was not required as the application complied 

with parking standards. The Chairman suggested that 
a more comprehensive parking survey may be 
required. Photos from Ward Councillor Kate Lymer 

were tabled at the meeting showing parking 
congestion at the location.     

 
The Chairman raised the matter of electric charging 
points, as only two were detailed on the plans as 

opposed to four. He asked for assurances that four 
would be provided.  

 
The Chairman asked what measures would be taken 
for water conservation. The agent responded that 

such measures could be factored in as a planning 
condition. 

 
Oral representations from visiting Ward Councillor 
Kate Lymer in objection to the application were 

received. She addressed the Committee and 
requested a deferral. She said that parking stress 

problems were caused by the busyness of the dance 
studio in the road, and that the parking stress test was 
taken at the wrong time. She said that the parking 

stress test was taken on at 4.30pm on a Wednesday 
afternoon when there were only two dance classes. 

 
Councillor Lymer expressed the view that the stress 
test should be undertaken at a transition time when 

classes were starting and finishing. She stated that 
the dance studio ran 87 different classes over seven 

days, as well as regular birthday parties. She 
reminded the Committee that Bromley had the second 
highest car ownership ratio in London, and that one 

Page 2



Plans Sub-Committee No. 4 

25 May 2023 
 

3 
 

car per family, or one car parking space per family 

would probably not be sufficient. Councillor Lymer 
requested that a new parking stress test be 

undertaken at 5:15 pm on a Friday afternoon in school 
term time and that representatives from Highways 
should attend simultaneously. She said that as well as 

the parking stress levels, she was requesting a 
deferral in the hope that the number of dwellings and 

(therefore density) could be reduced. She would also 
like more information regarding plans for water 
conservation.   

 
Councillor Kevin Kennedy Brooks moved that the 

application be permitted and this was seconded by 
Councillor Ryan Thompson.  
 

Councillor Dean moved that the application be 
deferred and this was seconded by Councillor 

Rowlands.   
 
Members, having considered the report, objections 
and representations RESOLVED that the application 
be DEFERRED without prejudice for the following 

reasons: 
 
1) To conduct an additional parking stress survey at 

5:15pm on a Friday during school term to capture the 
parking situation during class transition time at the 

adjacent Dance Studio. Bromley Council’s Highway 
Officers need to visit at the same time. 
 

2) To provide water retention measures within the site 
for flood risk management. 

 
3) To review the scale of the proposed development in 
terms of reducing the site density and increase 

parking, with all parking spaces to have electric 
charging points. 

 
26.2 
FARNBOROUGH AND 

CROFTON 

(21/05278/FULL1):  LAND OPPOSITE 165 TO 193 
ISABELLA DRIVE, ORPINGTON, 

 
Description of Application: Erection of a new building 

to provide 26 residential units (Use Class C3), 
together with associated car parking, cycle parking, 
hard and soft landscaping, tree removal, boundary 

treatment, access, utilities and other associated works 
on Land Opposite 165 to 193 Isabella Drive, and the 

provision of play space to the rear of No’s 138-150 
Broadwater Gardens and front of No’s 2-16 Isabella 

Page 3



Plans Sub-Committee No. 4 

25 May 2023 
 

4 

Drive. 
 

The Planning Officer highlighted that the application 
would result in 26 new residential dwellings which 

would represent a moderate contribution to the supply 
of housing within the borough. It was also the case 
that some of the proposed dwellings would be 

affordable social rented housing. The proposal would 
also provide accessible and adaptable homes which 

would meet the minimum internal space standards. 
The Planning Officer explained that there would be 
dedicated play areas for children, as well as 

landscaping and ecological enhancements. There 
would not be any significant harm to residential 

amenity and there had been no objections received 
from Highways. There were no adverse implications 
that would outweigh the benefits of the proposed 

development. 
 
It was noted that three late representations had been 

received, two of these were objections and one was in 
support of the application. 

 
Oral representations in objection to the application 
were received at the meeting. 

 
Oral representations in support of the application were 

received at the meeting. 
 
A letter was presented to the Committee which stated 

that there were no plans for further house building to 
be undertaken at Darrick Wood. The letter was dated 

2009.  
 
A Member expressed the view that the proposed new 

play areas would be a significant loss of amenity 
space which would be difficult to justify. The agent for 

Keniston Housing Association said that the provision 
was beyond the minimum requirements of planning 
policy. The Member expressed concern at the lack of 

face to face consultation with residents and the 
possible loss of light to those residents facing the 

proposed development, as it seemed as if the 
development was being built on a hill. The agent 
responded that a daylight survey was undertaken 

which indicated that there would be no noticeable 
impact. 

 
The Committee also discussed matters relating to 
electric car charging points and water conservation.  

Page 4



Plans Sub-Committee No. 4 

25 May 2023 
 

5 
 

 

The Chairman stated that the residents had put in an 
application for a community green. He asked the 

agent for Keniston if he was aware of this and whether 
or not Keniston would be prepared to delay this 
application until the application for a community green 

had been dealt with. The Council's legal 
representative said that processing the application for 

a community green could take up to two years. The 
agent consulted with representatives from Keniston 
who indicated that they did not wish to delay the 

application. 
 

A Member stated that this area of land was a 
communal area for the local community and was not 
just a children’s play area. There was also a section of 

the current development that had been built 
specifically for residents with disabilities who currently 

benefited from ease of access to a field. Biodiversity 
may also be impacted with the possible loss of 
hedgehogs and badgers. The application had many 

positive aspects but it was in his view being proposed 
on the wrong site. 

 
Councillor Kevin Kennedy Brooks moved that the 
application be refused. This was seconded by 

Councillor Julie Ireland. The Committee agreed 
unanimously that the application should be refused.      

 
Members having considered the report, objections 
and representations, RESOLVED that the application 

be REFUSED for the following reasons:  

 

 
1) Insufficient evidence has been provided to 
demonstrate that the open space is surplus to 

requirements and an alternative enhanced provision 
has not been demonstrated in an equally accessible 

location to continue to meet the needs of the 
community it serves. The development is therefore 
contrary to Policy 20 of the Bromley Local Plan 

(2019), Policy S1 of the London Plan (2021) and the 
aims and objectives of Chapter 8 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 
2) The proposal, by reason of its bulk, size, and 

overall footprint, would result in an overbearing form 
of development which would be detrimental to the 

amenities of neighbouring residents. The proposal is 
thereby contrary to Policy 37 of the Bromley Local 

Page 5



Plans Sub-Committee No. 4 

25 May 2023 
 

6 

Plan (2019), Policy D3 of the London Plan (2021) and 
the aims and objectives of paragraph 130 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 

3) The proposal would, due to its location in an area 
with a low PTAL rating, result in residential 
development that is excessively dependent on the use 

of private cars and fails to provide inclusive 
neighbourhoods which allow people to move around 

safely and easily by active travel modes. The proposal 
is therefore inconsistent with the overarching strategy 
of promoting sustainable transport and minimising 

greenhouse gas emissions, thereby contrary to 
Policies 31 and 33 of the Bromley Local Plan (2019), 

Policies T1, D5 and SI 1 of the London Plan (2021) 
and the NPPF (2021). 
 

4) An acceptable planning obligation for provision of 
the affordable housing (including wheelchair 
accessible units), affordable housing viability reviews, 

payment of contributions in respect of carbon 
offsetting, and the payment of monitoring and legal 

costs has not been entered into. The application is 
thereby contrary to Policy 125 of the Bromley Local 
Plan (2019), Policy DF1 of the London Plan (2021), 

and Bromley Planning Obligation Supplementary 
Planning Document (June 2022). 

 
26.3 
BECKENHAM TOWN AND 

COPERS COPE 

(22/0993/FULL1): 1 THE DRIVE, BECKENHAM, BR3 
1EE 

 
Description of Application: Part one/two storey rear 

extension and construction of rear dormer extension 
with conversion of resultant dwelling into two flats (1 
no. three bedroom flat and 1 no. two bedroom flat) 

with associated refuse storage. 
 

The Planning Officer stated that the application 
exceeded the minimum space standards and would 
provide family accommodation with rear gardens; 

there were no restrictions on converting the family 
home to flats and there was no significant community 

impact. There had not been any technical objections 
received from Highways. The proposal would provide 
a small contribution to the housing supply. The 

Planning Department had recommended the 
application for Permission. 

 
The Planning Officer said that one late objection had 
been received. 

Page 6



Plans Sub-Committee No. 4 

25 May 2023 
 

7 
 

 

Oral representations in objection to the application 
were received from Ward Councillor Chloe-Jane 

Ross.  
 
Councillor Ross pointed out that this was an area 

characterised by single three bedroom family homes, 
and expressed concern that if the application was 

successful it could facilitate a shift to a transient 
neighbourhood. She summarised the concerns of 
people living in the area as follows: 

 
 a reduced sense of community 

 loss of front gardens and garden space 

 loss of family single dwelling homes 

 on street parking implications 

 impact on the local character 

 

Councillor Ross stated that other London boroughs 
were protecting single dwelling family homes, and that 
in many other London boroughs, the application would 

not meet the criteria for recommendation. She 
expressed the view that the application was out of 

character with the local area and could set a negative 
precedent for similar conversions. She pointed out 
that the London Borough of Wandsworth, (when 

defending appeals where they had refused the 
conversion of single dwelling family homes to flats), 

had defended many of these appeals successfully and 
this indicated that the Planning Inspectorate 
recognised the need to maintain single dwelling family 

homes. She said that Bromley needed a good mix of 
housing, and not just flats.  

 
A discussion arose as to the possibility of the 
conversion of such properties to HMOs subsequent to 

being converted to flats. She also referred to the 
possibility of less protected homes being targeted by 

developers with the consequent loss of family homes. 
She recommended that the application be refused. 
 

An oral representation in objection to the application 
was also received from Ward Councillor Michael 

Tickner. He expressed the view that the application 
would create an unwelcome precedent of family 
homes being converted to apartments. He highlighted 

that the application was near a Conservation Area. 
and that no extra parking spaces were proposed. He 

reminded the Committee that the borough needed a 
mix of flats and family homes and Beckenham already 

Page 7



Plans Sub-Committee No. 4 

25 May 2023 
 

8 

had many flats. He felt that officers had failed to look 
at the eight house block as a whole. He described the 

application as not purpose built, not a good design 
and out of character for the area, and consequently he 

urged Members to refuse the application. 
 
Cllr Julie Ireland moved that the application be 

refused. Councillor Ryan Thompson seconded the 
motion.  

 
Members, having considered the report, objections 
and representations, RESOLVED that the application 

BE REFUSED for the following reasons: 

 

1. The proposal would have a detrimental impact 
on the distinctive character of the area, resulting in the 
loss of a single family dwelling, and an intensity of 

residential use of the end of terrace dwelling that 
would not be sympathetic to or consistent with the 
prevailing pattern of development in The Drive, 

contrary to Policies 9 and 37 of the Bromley Local 
Plan (2019). 

 
2. The proposed sub-division of the property, by 
reason of its layout, increased intensity and the 

number of people to be housed, would be detrimental 
to the amenities of adjoining occupiers by reasons of 

increased noise and disturbance, contrary to Policy 
D3 of the London Plan (2021) and Policies 9 and 37 of 
the Bromley Local Plan (2019). 

 
26.4 

HAYES AND CONEY HALL; 
CONSERVATION AREA: 
KESTON VILLAGE 

(23/01379/FULL6): 15 HEATHFIELD ROAD, 

KESTON, BR2 6BG 

 
Description of Application: Conversion and alteration 

of rear ground floor premises from underused storage, 
to provide a one bedroom, one person apartment with 

rear courtyard garden and access and central 
courtyard garden area along with secure bin storage 
to rear.  

 
The Planning Officer said that the application was 

located in a Conservation Area but that there would 
be no detrimental impact upon the local area or the 
Conservation Area. There had been no objections 

from Highways. The application was recommended 
for permission. 

 
An email was noted from Councillor Alexa Michael 
who had called in the application, regarding her 

Page 8



Plans Sub-Committee No. 4 

25 May 2023 
 

9 
 

concerns around parking and the lack of amenity 

space. 
 

Oral representations in support of the application were 
received at the meeting. 
 

Councillor Kevin Kennedy Brooks moved that the 
application be approved and this was seconded by 

Councillor Peter Dean.  
 
Members, having considered the report, objections 
and representations, RESOLVED that PERMISSION 
BE GRANTED for the reasons and subject to the 

conditions and informatives set out in the report of the 
Chief Planner. 
 

 
 

The meeting ended at 9.08 pm. 
 
 

 
Chairman 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 9



This page is left intentionally blank

Page 10



 
Committee Date 

 
14.09.2023 
 

 
Address 

26 Copthorne Avenue 
Bromley  
BR2 8NN  

  
  

 
Application 
Number 

23/01969/FULL1 Officer  - Susanna Stevenson 

Ward Bromley Common And Holwood 
Proposal Erection of detached dwelling house with lower ground and ground 

floor accommodation on land at rear of 26 Copthorne Avenue with 
associated vehicular access from Knowle Road. 

Applicant 
 

Mr S Goodger 

Agent 
 

Liam Sutton  

26 Copthorne Avenue  

Bromley 
BR2 8NN 

 
 
 

13 Arm & Sword Lane  

Old Hatfield  
AL9 5EH  

United Kingdom  
  
 

Reason for referral to 
committee 

 
 

Call-In 
 

Councillor call in 
 

 Yes  - Councillor David 
Jefferys (on basis of previous 
refusal of planning permission, 

overdevelopment, impact on 
residential amenity and 

construction/highways 
impacts). 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 

 
PERMISSION 

 
 

 
KEY DESIGNATIONS 

 

 
Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area  
London City Airport Safeguarding  

Smoke Control SCA 22 
 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4.1



Land use Details  

 Use Class or Use 
description   

 

 
Floor space  (GIA SQM) 

 
Existing  
 

 

 
C3 garden land 

 
N/A 
(existing site area of No. 26 Copthorne 

Avenue 939 sq. metres) 

 
Proposed  

 
 

 
C3 residential dwelling 

with garden 

 
192 sq. metres (dwellinghouse) 

 
Residential Use – See Affordable housing section for full breakdown including 

habitable rooms 

 Number of bedrooms per unit 
 

1 2 3 4 Plus  Total  

 
Market 

 

   
1 

  
1 

Total  

 

  1  1 

 
Vehicle parking  Existing number 

of spaces 
 

Total proposed 
including spaces 
retained  

 

Difference in spaces  
(+ or -) 

Standard car spaces 0 
 

3 + 3 

Disabled car spaces  

 

0 0 0 

Cycle  0 indicated 
 

0 indicated 0 

 
Electric car charging points  1 no. active charging point 

 

 
Representation  
summary  

 
 

Neighbouring residents were notified of the application by letter dated 
13th June 2023. A total of 23 letters were sent.   

 

Total number of responses  9 

Number in support  0 

Number of objections 9 

 
 
 
 

Page 12



1. SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION  

 

 The current proposal replicates the scheme for which planning permission was 
allowed on appeal under LBB reference 19/01978/FULL1 

 

 While the decision (made on 8th July 2020) predates the London Plan publication, 

material planning considerations relating to the site and proposal, including planning 
policies, have not significantly changed. 
 

 The proposal would provide 1 residential dwelling, which would make a minor 
contribution to housing supply 

 
 
 

2. LOCATION 
 

 
2.1 The application site would be accessed from Knowle Road and comprises a 

severance plot which would be formed from the rear half of the garden of the host 

dwelling which itself fronts Copthorne Road.  
 

 

 
Figure 1: Front of host dwelling 

 

 
 

2.2 The main site is broadly rectangular in shape, and is approx. 14.3m wide and 26.3m 
deep (excluding the access from the track at Knowle Road). The site area measures 
939sqm. 

 
 

Page 13



 
 Figure 2: Site plan  

 
 

 
 

 
Figure 3: Aerial view of site 

 

Page 14



2.3 To the east the site is bounded by the retained rear garden of the host dwelling. To 
the west of the site is the rear/side garden of no. 22 Knowle Road. To the south is 

the residential curtilage of The White House, which fronts Copthorne Avenue. 
 

 
 

   
  Figures 4 and 5 – site from Knowle Road 

 
 
3. PROPOSAL 
 

 
3.1 It is proposed to form a residential site through partitioning the existing rear garden 

serving No. 26 Copthorne Avenue.  
 
 

 

 
Figure 6 – Red line/blue line site 

 
 

Page 15



 
Figure 7 – indicated severance 

 

 
3.2 Upon the site a predominantly single storey dwelling would be constructed, with a 

basement/lower ground floor providing additional accommodation. The building 
would comprise 4 single storey interlinked sections, with each section having a dual-
pitched roof and the link/connecting areas having flat roofs. The height of the building 

would be 4.35m to the ridgeline and 3m to eaves level of each section with the link 
areas being approx. 2.85m high. 

 

 
 

     Figure 8 – single storey elevation 
 

Page 16



 
   Figure 9 – elevation with basement indicated 

 
3.2 The ground floor accommodation would have recessed areas of glazing (within each 

linking section) in the eastern elevation facing the formed boundary with the 

remainder of the garden serving No. 26 Copthorne Avenue (the host dwelling). The 
main windows serving the internal accommodation would be provided in the western 

flank elevation, which would be approx. 5.95m from the boundary with No. 22 Knowle 
Road. 

 

 

 
Figure 10 – Ground floor plan 

 
3.3. The basement accommodation would be L-shaped, with the office and Bedroom 3 

looking onto a lower ground level patio area which would be accessed internally as 

Page 17



well as via steps leading to ground/garden level. The depth of the lightwell would be 
3m and the area would measure approx. 4.15m by 5.25m. 

 

 
 

     Figure 11 – Basement plan 
        

 

3.4 Private amenity space would be provided to the side of the proposed dwelling, 
between the western flank elevation and the boundary with No. 22 Knowle Road. 

This area would be separated from the parking and turning area by the balustrade 
topped lightwell/lower ground floor patio. 

 

 
 

3.5 The proposed building would be finished in a varied palette of materials, with 
separate sections being finished in complementary materials i.e. brick/white 
render/shingle timber cladding.  

 

 
     Figure 12 – elevation materials 

 
 

3.6 Off-street parking would be provided in the open area between the basement patio 

and the front of the site and a turning area with refuse store would be provided 

Page 18



between the northern elevation of the dwelling and the boundary. The applicant’s 
agent has confirmed that an electric vehicle charging point would be capable of being 

installed.  
 

 
 
     Figure 13 – proposed site plan 
 

3.7 The application was supported by the following documents: 
 

 Covering letter 

 SUDS Drainage Report 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

 Appeal Decision 

 Construction and Environmental Management Plan 

 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
 

4.1 Under reference 19/01978/FULL1 planning permission was refused for development 
replicated in this application, on the ground: 

 
“1. The proposed development, by reason of its scale and siting, would result in an 

Page 19



overdevelopment of the site and an unacceptable loss of garden land, harmful to the 
openness and visual amenity of the area together with a detrimental impact on the visual 
amenity and biodiversity value of the site, the wider woodland habitat and adjacent Site of 
Importance for Nature Conservation resulting from the loss of trees and wildlife habitat, 
contrary to Policies 37 69, 70 and 73 of the Bromley Local Plan.” 

 

 
4.2 Subsequently, planning permission was allowed on appeal, by decision notice dated 

8th July 2020.    
 
 

 

 
  Figure 14 – Scheme allowed on appeal 8th July 2020 (replicated in this application) 

 

 
4.3 In the assessment of the appeal the Inspector considered that the main issues were 

the impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area and the 
biodiversity value of the site. 

 

4.4 The Inspector considered that while the site and position of the appeal site was not 
characteristic of other plots in the area, it would not be readily visible from a public 

perspective. Because of “its form and articulation” it was considered that the dwelling 
would appear “as a continuation of the existing row of bui ldings that front the service 
road.” It was assessed that this visual presence, as a continuation of existing built 

form/structures, result in the development reflecting the character and appearance of 
the buildings extant within the service road, while acknowledging its residential rather 

than ancillary garaging use.  
 

4.5 With regards to biodiversity, the site’s location to the north of a Site of Interest for 

Nature Conservation was acknowledged by the Inspector, who then referenced the 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal which had been commissioned by the applicant, and 

its finding that there were no protected species present on site and that the existing 
garage and trees were identified as having negligible potential to support roosting 
bats. Taking this into account, along with the further conclusions relating to the habitat 

suitability of the ornamental pond and hedging, the Inspector assessed that the site 
had limited ecological value and concluded that the proposal would not have caused 

harm to the site’s biodiversity value of the adjacent SINC.  

Page 20



 
4.6 The Inspector incorporated recommendations within the Appraisal and the 

consultation response from the Orpington Field Club into conditions imposed on the 
permission, where these could be justified.  

 
4.7 With regards to the impact on neighbouring amenity, which did not form part of the 

reason for refusal, the Inspector noted the local concern raised in this respect, but 

concluded that the modest height, articulation of the built structure, and the siting of 
the development would cumulatively limit its overall impact. In referencing a 

previously dismissed appeal (2008) the Inspector noted that that development would 
have been taller, wider and closer to the boundary with 22 Knowle Road.  

 

4.8 The Inspector also commented on third party concerns relating to the street geometry 
of Knowle Road and the impact of the proposal with regards to flood risk, effect of 

excavation, surface water drainage and increased vehicle movements along Knowle 
Road, as well as with regards to loss of private views, impact on traffic to and from 
the A21 and possible damage to the surface road during constriction. He noted that 

no objection to the proposal had been raised by the Highway Authority or the Council 
on these grounds, and where any further control or detail was necessary, these could 

be addressed through the imposition of conditions.  
 
4.9 Finally, the Inspector noted that queries had been raised regarding rights of access 

and issues of land ownership. It was confirmed that these are private matters outside 
of planning control, and it was emphasised that the grant of planning permission does 

not override the legal ownership of land.  
 
4.10 Under reference 19/01978/CONDIT and 19/01978/CONDT1 details pursuant to the 

pre-commencement conditions imposed by the Inspector in allowing the appeal were 
submitted. The construction management plan details were approved under 

reference 19/01978/CONDIT. There was a delay in the submission of the drainage 
details as a consequence of which the permission under reference 19/01978/FULL1 
“lapsed” prior to the discharge of details, and the commencement of development 

(although Members are advised that subsequently the drainage officer confirmed that 
the details which had been submitted were acceptable to comply with the 

requirements of the condition). The drainage details condition application was 
withdrawn in view of the “lapsing” of the original permission and the applicant has 
provided these details now as a supporting document to the current application.   

 
4.11 15/03971/FULL6 Single storey side and rear extension to provide annexe 

 REFUSED AND APPEAL ALLOWED 17/3/16 
 

4.12 This application related to the construction of a single storey side/rear extension. The 

permission allowed on appeal expired on 17/3/19, prior to the submission of 
application  19/01978/FULL1. There is no indication on site that the development has 

commenced and the applicant's agent has confirmed in writing (within application 
19/01978/FULL1) that the development was not commenced within the 3 year period 
from the date of decision - the permission has therefore lapsed. 

  
 4.13 84/00738/FUL - Two storey side extension- PERMISSION 
 

Page 21



 
5. CONSULTATION SUMMARY 

 
A) Statutory  

 

 
Highways:   NO OBJECTION 

 
The comments associated with the previous application (allowed on appeal) are reiterated. 

Should planning permission be granted, conditions are recommended, including a condition 
requiring compliance with the submitted Construction and Environmental Management 
Plan.  

 
 
Drainage:  NO OBJECTION 

 
The access drive and dedicated car park area should be constructed with permeable paving. 

A condition is recommended relating to sustainable drainage.  
 

B) Local Groups 

 
Orpington Field Club: 

 
Paragraph 1.6.1 of the submitted PEA refers to a linear group of leylandii but these are not 

shown on the submitted drawing. If these are to be lost they should be replaced by native 
species although young plants will not be able to sequester as much carbon as the larger 
trees present.  

 
There are issues in the area regarding flooding – no hydrological report has been submitted. 

 
Other than the above, should planning permission be granted conditions are recommended 
regarding no invasive species (specifically cherry laurel) to be planted, habitat clearance 

taking place outside of the main nesting season (as per the PEA recommendation) and with 
regards to artificial lighting. It is recommended that ecological enhancements be undertaken 

– reference to the PEA section 4.5.3, 4.5.4, 4.5.2 and 4.4.40.  
 
 

C) Adjoining Occupiers 
 

 Objections 
 
 

 Highways (addressed at paragraph 7.4) 
 

 There is a dentist at the end of the road, and so Knowle Road is heavily parked 

 Impact on highways safety 

 Lack of space for on-site car parking 

 
  

Page 22



 Trees and ecology (addressed at paragraphs 7.6 & 7.7) 
 

 There is a row of 8/10 large conifers with trunks close to, or leaning on the fence. 

Removal of the trees (since not shown on the site plan) will impact on neighbouring 

property 

 Impact on ecology associated with loss of trees 

 Ecological report is out of date 

 
 Visual amenity (addressed at paragraph 7.2) 

 

 Overdevelopment of the site  

 Out of keeping with the area 

 
 Neighbouring amenity (addressed at paragraph 7.5) 

 

 Loss of privacy 

 Visual impact 

 Noise and disturbance associated with the siting of the construction and incorporation 

of basement works 

 

 Flooding (addressed at paragraph 7.8) 
 

 The end of Knowle Road has a history of flooding problems, associated with poorly 

maintained woodland and the gradient of the road 

 There is a culvert that drains Knowlehill Wood 

 

 Other matters  
 

 The scheme approved on appeal was subject to a condition requiring that the 

development commence by June 2023 

 Concern over the quality of the CEMP approved in relation to application 

19/01941/FULL1  

 Current CEMP shows the use of the existing property at 26 Copthorne Avenue as a 

site office/facility with access to and from Copthorne Avenue (this did not form part 

of the approved scheme) 

 Concern over the scope of the application and whether is actually a single dwelling, 

taking note of the site area and the build cost/duration indicated on the application 

form 

 Concern relating to construction traffic i.e. lorries and dust and air pollution arising 

from the construction phase, health impacts 

 Concern relating to the indicated build-duration 

 There is a shortage of affordable housing, not expensive housing in wrong location 

 Proposal might be changed into an HMO retrospectively 

 

Page 23



6. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 
 

National Policy Framework 2021 
 

NPPG 
 
The London Plan (2021) 

 

D1 London's form and characteristics 

D2 Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities 
D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 
D4 Delivering good design 

D5 Inclusive design 
D6 Housing quality and standards 

D7 Accessible housing 
D11 Safety, security and resilience to emergency 
D12 Fire safety 

D13 Agent of change 
D14 Noise 

H1 Increasing Housing Supply 
H2 Small sites 
H5 Threshold Approach to application 

H8 Loss of existing housing and estate redevelopment 
H9 Ensuring the best use of stock 

H10 Housing Size Mix 
S4 Play and informal recreation 
G5 Urban greening 

G6 Biodiversity and access to nature 
G7 Trees and woodlands 

SI1 Improving air quality 
SI4 Managing heat risk 
SI5 Water infrastructure 

SI7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy 
SI12 Flood risk management 

SI13 Sustainable drainage 
T2 Healthy Streets 
T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding 

T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 
T5 Cycling 

T6 Car parking 
T6.1 Residential Parking 
T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction 
 
 

Mayor Supplementary Guidance 
 

London Housing Design Guidance 
 
 

 

Page 24



Bromley Local Plan 2019 
 

1 Housing Supply 
3 Backland and Garden Land Development 

4 Housing design 
30 Parking  
32 Road Safety 

33 Access for All 
34 Highway Infrastructure Provision   

37 General design of development 
69 Development and Nature Conservation Sites 
72 Protected Species 

73 Development and Trees 
75 Hedgerows and Development 

77 Landscape Quality and Character 
112 Planning for Sustainable Waste management  
113 Waste Management in New Development  

115 Reducing flood risk 
116 Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS)  

117 Water and Wastewater Infrastructure Capacity 
118 Contaminated Land 
119 Noise Pollution  

120 Air Quality  
122 Light Pollution 

123 Sustainable Design and Construction 
124 Carbon dioxide reduction, Decentralise Energy networks and Renewable Energy 
 

Bromley Supplementary Guidance   
 

Urban Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)(June 2023). 
 
 

7.  ASSESSMENT 
 

 
7.1 PRINCIPLE - ACCEPTABLE 

 

7.1.1 The principle of the residential development as currently proposed was found to be 
acceptable within the Planning Appeal under reference 19/01978/FULL1. The 

Inspector conceded that the size and position of the appeal site was not characteristic 
of other plots in the area, but stated that the building “because of its form and 
articulation” would be seen as a continuation of the existing buildings fronting the 

service road. To this extent, the proposal was considered as reflecting something of 
the character and appearance of buildings along the rear service road.  

 
7.1.2 In conclusion, the Inspector considered that “because of its secluded position with 

limited public views, and the imaginative way that the building has been designed as 

a continuation of the line of existing buildings along the service road, it would not 
cause harm to the character and appearance of the area” with specific reference to 

Page 25



the criteria set out for the assessment of backland and garden land development, as 
well as general design principles (Policies 3 and 37 of the Bromley Local Plan). 

 
7.1.3 There are not considered to be new material planning considerations associated with 

the proposal in the context of the site/its surroundings that would render the principle 
of the proposed residential development now unacceptable.  

 

7.1.4 While the publication of the London Plan post-dated the previous decision at appeal, 
in terms of the policy context for the assessment of this application, with particular 

regards to character and impact on local visual and residential amenity, it is not 
considered that policies within the London Plan contradict those that were pertinent 
in the assessment of the original submission.  

 
7.1.5 The current published position is that the FYHLS (covering the period 2021/22 to 

2025/26) is 3,245 units or 3.99 years supply. This position was agreed at 
Development Control Committee on the 2nd of November 2021 and acknowledged 
as a significant undersupply. Subsequent to this, an appeal decision from August 

2023 (appeal ref: APP/G5180/W/23/3315293) concluded that the Council had a 
supply of 3,235 units or 3.38 years. The Council has used this appeal derived figure 

for the purposes of assessing this application. This is considered to be a significant 
level of undersupply. 

 

7.1.6 For the purposes of assessing relevant planning applications this means that the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development may apply. It is noted that the 

appeal derived FYHLS figure assumes the new London Plan target of 774 units per 
annum applies from FY 2019/20 and factors in shortfall in delivery against past 
targets since 2019.  

 
7.1.7 The NPPF (2019) sets out in paragraph 11 a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. In terms of decision-making, the document states that where a 
development accords with an up to date local plan, applications should be approved 
without delay. Where a plan is out of date, permission should be granted unless the 

application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or any 

adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. 

 

7.1.8 According to paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF in the absence of a 5 year Housing Land 
Supply the Council should regard the Development Plan Policies for the supply of 

housing including Policy 1 Housing Supply of the Bromley Local Plan as being 'out 
of date'. In accordance with paragraph 11(d), for decision taking this means where 
there are no relevant development plan policies or the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:  
 

i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; 
or 

 
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

Page 26



 
7.1.9 London Plan Policy H1 sets Bromley's housing target at 774 homes per annum. In 

order to deliver this target, boroughs are encouraged to optimise the potential for 
housing delivery on all suitable and available brownfield sites. This approach is 

consistent with Policy 1 of the Bromley Local Plan, particularly with regard to the 
types of locations where new housing delivery should be focused. 

 

7.1.10 This application includes the provision of 1 additional residential dwelling and would 
represent a minor contribution to the supply of housing within the Borough, which will 

be considered in the overall planning balance set out in the conclusion of this report, 
having regard to the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

 

 
7.2 DESIGN - ACCEPTABLE 

 

7.2.1 Policy 37 of the Bromley Local Plan requires new buildings to complement the scale, 
form, layout and materials of adjacent buildings and areas, and seeks to protect the 

amenities of neighbouring properties.  
 

7.2.2 Policy 4 requires that for all new housing development, the site layout, buildings and 
space around buildings are designed to a high quality, recognising as well as 
complimenting the qualities of the surrounding areas and The provision of sufficient 

external, private amenity space that is accessible and practical. 
 

7.2.3 The application site is at present undeveloped and provides largely the rearmost part 
of the garden associated with the host dwelling, with a gravelled parking area behind 
a five bar gate. The proposal would result in the subdivision of the existing garden of 

the host dwelling to form a rectangular plot with an irregular spit of land leading from 
the plot to the access onto Knowle Road. The retained rear garden associated with 

the host dwelling at No. 26 would be reduced to approx. 8m deep although the rear 
garden would be generously wide as existing with a width of approx. 24m.  

 

7.2.4 The proposed dwelling would have an appearance and design which would be 
consistent with that of a garden outbuilding when viewed from Knowle Road, though 

slightly narrower in this elevation. It would be 3m high to eaves and 4.4m high to the 
ridge of the separate sectional structures, with glazed flat roof links between each 
larger section.  

 
7.2.5 The dwelling has been designed to appear as a grouping of interlinked detached 

outbuildings, with a single storey appearance. The materials and design detailing 
lend the visual impression of an outbuilding/garden structures consistent with the 
varied appearance of the detached outbuildings at the rear of dwellings fronting 

Copthorne Avenue. The provision of modest flat roofed links between the four main 
structures serves to break down the overall bulk of the building when viewed from 

either side, and when viewed from the access from Knowle Road the dwelling would 
present as a detached single storey structure not dissimilar to the detached 
garages/outbuildings at the rear of the gardens of dwellings fronting Copthorne 

Avenue. The dwelling would incorporate complementary/contrasting facing materials 
to further limit the impression of bulk of the proposal.  

 

Page 27



7.2.6 In allowing the appeal in respect of the previous application, the Inspector 
acknowledged that the garden area would be smaller than others in the locality, with 

less scope to accommodate trees and other greenery. However, it was concluded 
that the well-screened position of the building along with the wooded backdrop to the 

south, would result in development that would not be detrimental to the character and 
appearance of the area.  

 

7.2.7 It is not considered that policy or guidance post-dating the appeal decision  
has arisen that would counter the Inspector’s assessment within that appeal decision 

with regards to the design and appearance of the development. The design and siting 
of the development is considered to respond well to the site character and 
constraints, resulting in a residential dwelling that would sit comfortably within its site 

and would draw upon the pattern and grain of existing development along the service 
track, resulting in development of an acceptable standard of design and no significant 

impact on the visual amenities and character of the area.   
 
 

7.3 STANDARD OF RESIDENTIAL ACCOMMODATION - ACCEPTABLE 
 

7.3.1 The assessment of the development proposed in 2019 under reference 
19/01978/FULL1 did not raise concerns over the standard of accommodation 
provided within the development, which was considered to result in a dwelling of a 

high standard of amenity for prospective occupiers, consistent with the requirements 
set out in the technical housing standards.  

 
7.3.2 Since the previous application was assessed the London Plan has been published, 

which sets out in Policy D6 the requirements in respect of housing quality, as well as 

(more recently) the London Housing Design Guidance. The previous report’s 
assessment of the standard of residential accommodation is repeated below, suitably 

updated where appropriate.  
 
7.3.3 In March 2015 the Government published The National Technical Housing 

Standards. This document prescribes internal space within new dwellings and is 
suitable for application across all tenures. It sets out requirements for the Gross 

Internal (floor) Area of new dwellings at a defined level of occupancy as well as floor 
areas and dimensions for key parts of the home, notably bedrooms, storage and floor 
to ceiling height.   

 
7.3.4 Policy 4 of the Local Plan sets out the requirements for new residential development 

to ensure a good standard of amenity for future occupiers. The Mayor's Housing SPG 
sets out guidance in respect of the standard required for all new residential 
accommodation to supplement London Plan policies. The standards apply to new 

build, conversion and change of use proposals.  
 

7.3.5 The London Plan makes clear that ninety percent of new housing should meet 
Building Regulation requirement M4 (2) 'accessible and adaptable dwellings' and ten 
per cent of new housing should meet Building Regulation requirement M4 (3) 

'wheelchair user dwellings', i.e. is designed to be wheelchair accessible, or easily 
adaptable for residents who are wheelchair users. The relevant category of Building 

Control Compliance should be secured by planning conditions. 

Page 28



 
7.3.6 The proposal would provide three bedrooms, with two bedrooms on the ground floor 

and one on the basement level as well as an office with a window onto the courtyard. 
The internal space provided would be of an acceptable layout and size to serve 

prospective occupants, with a GIA of approx. 200sqm which exceeds the minimum 
space required for either a 3 bedroom/6 person or a 4 bedroom/8 person dwelling.  

 

7.3.7 With regards to outlook and lighting, the ground floor accommodation would comprise 
rooms with a satisfactory outlook and light to internal rooms provided by way of the 

glazed link elements and windows, with the living room and bedroom 1 being dual 
aspect. At basement level a lightwell would light the office and corridor, with the office 
and bedroom 3 also looking out to the lower ground floor courtyard which would be 

of sufficient area to provide a reasonable outlook and lighting function, measuring 
4.25m by 5.25m.  

 
7.3.8 External amenity space would be provided between the dwelling and the boundary 

with 22 Knowle Road and while the space would be somewhat narrow and smaller 

than is common in residential curtilages in the locality, it is considered that the space 
would be of a reasonable size to serve the future occupiers of the dwelling.  

 
7.3.9 The applicant has confirmed that the dwelling can be Part M4(2) compliant. 
 
 
7.4 HIGHWAYS - ACCEPTABLE 

 

 
7.4.1 Highway Officer comments have raised no objections in principle subject to 

conditions on the basis/understanding that the dwelling would have a means of 
access from Knowle Road. In terms of whether there is a legal right of access that 

would be capable of being conferred upon the proposed dwelling, or with regards to 
covenants, these are private legal matters that lie outside of planning control.  

 

7.4.2 The front of the host dwelling includes a large, paved parking area with ample space 
to accommodate the car parking associated with the retained host dwelling. The 

proposed site layout leaves a reasonably large area free of development to the side 
and in front of the dwelling (up to the light well) which would comprise an open parking 
and manoeuvring area. This replicates the previous scheme, allowed on appeal. The 

application form refers to the development providing 3 no. car parking spaces. 
 

7.4.3 It is noted that local residents have historically referred to covenants/access rights 
and that these concerns were also expressed in the course of the previous 2019 and 
2007 applications. Members are advised that the Planning Inspectorate has been 

clear on this point - that the consideration of private legal matters does not form part 
of the assessment of the planning merits of development proposals.  

 
7.4.4 Concerns have been expressed regarding the impact of the period of construction on 

highways, as well as increased traffic. However no technical highways objections are 

raised on this matter and it is not considered that the proposal would have a 
significant impact on the freeflow of traffic and conditions of safety within the highway.  

 

Page 29



7.4.5 It is noted that within this application a Construction and Environmental Management 
Plan has been submitted, and under reference 19/01978/CONDIT details pursuant 

to condition 3 of the permission granted on appeal were submitted to the Council, 
with no objections to these details having been raised from a technical highways 

perspective. As a consequence the details pursuant were agreed as being 
satisfactory to comply with the requirements of the condition. This current application 
has been submitted with an updated Construction and Environmental Management 

Plan. 
 

7.4.6 In view of the above, and in line with comments from the Highways Officer, should 
planning permission be granted in this instance it would be appropriate to impose a 
condition requiring complete compliance with the recently submitted Construction 

and Environmental Management Plan. 
 

7.4.7 The applicants have confirmed the intention to install an EVCP to serve the 
application dwelling. Parking at the site is indicated to be informally arranged. In this 
context, and taking into account the formation on the site of a single family dwelling, 

it is not considered unreasonable to impose a condition requiring the installation of 1 
no. active electric vehicle charging point to serve the household of the single dwelling.  

 
7.4.8 It is noted that the application does not provide detail on proposed cycle storage 

arrangements, nor with regards to refuse storage – although the site plan indicates 

that provision for such would be capable of being made. It would therefore be prudent 
to impose conditions requiring the submission of further details of refuse and cycle 

storage.  
 
 
7.5 NEIGHBOURING AMENITY - ACCEPTABLE 

 

7.5.1 The impact of the proposal on the amenities of the neighbouring properties is 
unchanged relative to the previous proposal, and the previous Committee report is 
repeated in this respect below: 

 
7.5.2 Policy 37 of the Bromley Local Plan seeks to respect the amenity of occupiers of 

neighbouring buildings and those of future occupants, providing healthy 
environments and ensuring they are not harmed by noise and disturbance, 
inadequate daylight, sunlight, privacy or by overshadowing. 

 
7.5.3 Policy 4 of the Bromley Local Plan also seeks to protect existing residential occupiers 

from inappropriate development. Issues to consider are the impact of a development 
proposal upon neighbouring properties by way of overshadowing, loss of light, 
overbearing impact, overlooking, loss of privacy and general noise and disturbance. 

 
7.5.4 The proposed dwelling would be single storey only and taking into account its siting 

in relation to the boundary with the dwelling at 22 Knowle Road would not have a 
significant impact on the daylight/sunlight to that property and taking into account the 
height/scale of the dwelling would not appear unduly overbearing or have an 

unacceptable visual impact when viewed from the neighbouring curtilage.  
 

Page 30



7.5.5 With regards to the impact of the proposal on the amenities of the host/donor 
dwelling, the elevations facing that dwelling would have limited window/door 

openings, at ground floor level only and taking into account the height of the building 
and the separation to the rear elevation of the host dwelling it is not considered that 

the proposal would have a detrimental visual impact or result in unacceptable loss of 
light or outlook. The severance of part of the rear garden of the host dwelling would 
result in the loss of the rear half of the existing amenity space serving that dwelling. 

However the plot is substantially wide and on balance it is considered that adequate 
amenity space would be retained to serve the host dwelling as well as being provided 

to serve the needs of prospective occupiers of the proposed dwelling.  
 
7.5.6 While planning permission was refused by the Local Planning Authority 

(subsequently allowed on appeal) for the previous development, it is noted that the 
reason for refusal did not directly relate to impact on neighbouring amenity. The 

Inspector, in assessing the appeal, referred to the representations received regarding 
the impact of the proposal on the privacy and outlook of the neighbouring property at 
No. 22 Knowle Road, stating: 

 
 “Concern has been raised at the impact on the neighbouring property at 22 

Knowle Road, with regards to privacy and outlook. The development would 
have its principal windows facing towards the side boundary of 22 Knowle 
Road. That boundary is currently screened by a conifer hedge although given 

the excavation necessary for the basement that screen is almost certain to be 
removed. Nevertheless, the windows would all be at ground floor level, and 

adequate privacy could be maintained by a fence or similar boundary 
treatment. In terms of outlook, the building would be sited away from the joint 
boundary and being single storey in height would not in my view have an 

overbearing or harmful impact on the outlook from the neighbouring property.” 
 

7.5.7 The Inspector also considered the impact of the proposal on outlook from the host 
dwelling (36 Copthorne Avenue) and concluded that the modest height and 
articulation of the building would limit its overall impact. 

 
7.5.8 While it is noted that representations continue to express concern over the impact of 

the proposal on neighbouring amenity, in the light of the above it is not considered 
that the proposal would have a significant impact on neighbouring properties, nor 
would the refusal of planning permission on this basis be warranted as a 

consequence.  
 

 
7.6 TREES - ACCEPTABLE 
 

7.6.1 Policy 73 states that proposals for new development will be required to take particular 
account of existing trees on the site and on adjoining land, which in the interests of 

visual amenity and/or wildlife habitats, are considered to be desirable to be retained. 
When trees have to be felled, the Council will seek suitable replanting. 

 

7.6.2 Concerns have been expressed by neighbouring residents regarding the impact of 
the proposal on trees, referring particularly to a conifer hedge/line of trees on the 

boundary of the site. The row of leylandii appears to have been planted as a 

Page 31



screening hedge, and has subsequently (since planting) grown to some height and 
depth.  

 
7.6.3 With regards to this application no objections are raised by the Trees Officer 

regarding the impact of the proposal in this respect. It is recommended that should 
permission be granted a landscaping condition be imposed to ensure that regardless 
of what vegetation may be removed or retained, the proposal enhances the character 

of the area and addresses any concerns of neighbours regarding the loss of trees. 
 

7.6.4 The applicant has confirmed that the Planning Inspector noted that given the 
excavation of the basement, it would be likely that the conifer screen would be 
removed, and that the condition imposed by the Inspector requiring further detail, 

prior to the commencement of development above ground level, of retained and 
proposed trees and plants would be complied with if reiterated in the decision on this 

application. The applicant’s agent has confirmed “if the conifers are removed, they 
can be suitably replaced as part of the soft/hard landscaping scheme, subject to 
Landscape Architects input. If the conifers can be retained, they will be suitably 

shaped/pruned to ensure attractive and healthy appearance.” 
 

7.6.5 It is not considered that the proposal currently under consideration, which would 
replicate that allowed on appeal, and which, had development commenced within 3 
years of the appeal decision, could have been recently constructed without this 

application, would have a different or greater impact on trees than the previous 
proposal. A condition imposed in the appeal decision required further detail, prior to 

the commencement of development above ground level, of vegetation to be retained 
and trees and plants to be planted, to be submitted to and approved in writing and it 
would be prudent to replicate that condition should planning permission be granted 

in this instance.  
 

 
7.7 ECOLOGY - ACCEPTABLE 

 

7.7.1 Policy 72 states that planning permission will not be granted for development or 
change of use of land that will have an adverse impact on protected species, unless 

mitigating measures can be secured to facilitate survival, reduce disturbance or 
provide alternative habitats. 

 

7.7.2 The ground for refusal in the previous application referred to the impact of the 
proposal on the biodiversity value of the site, the wider woodland habitat and adjacent 

Site of Importance for Nature Conservation, noting loss of trees and wildlife habitat.  
 
7.7.3 The biodiversity/ecology impact of the proposal was considered in detail by the 

Planning Inspector, who referred within their decision to the applicant’s Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal. It was concluded that the site has limited ecological value, and 

that the development would not cause harm to its biodiversity value or any harm to 
the nearby SINC. In view of the recommendations within the PEA regarding the 
potential to enhance the ecological value of the site, which were expanded upon at 

that time by the Orpington Field Club, the Inspector incorporated these 
recommendations where justified into condition 5 of the appeal permission. Should 

Page 32



planning permission be granted it would be appropriate to replicate this previous 
condition.  

 
 

7.8 DRAINAGE AND FLOODING - ACCEPTABLE 
 

7.8.1 Concern has been expressed regarding surface water drainage from the site, flood 

risk and run-off from the site as it is sloping and lies adjacent to woodland. The 
Council's Drainage Engineer raised no objections to the current application subject 

to a pre-commencement surface water drainage condition being imposed and the 
Highways Officer recommended a condition relating to highways drainage. The site 
does not lie in a Flood Zone. On this basis, and subject to conditions, it is considered 

that the development could be implemented without adverse impact on surface water 
drainage or flooding.  

 
7.8.2 The application was updated on 21st August 2023 through the submission of further 

details on drainage matters – comprising the integration into this application of the 

drainage details previously submitted to discharge the relevant condition on 
permission 19/01978/FULL1. Members are advised that while condition application 

19/01978/CONDT1 was withdrawn (as the 3 year period from the granting of planning 
permission on appeal had passed), the drainage officer considered that the submitted 
information was acceptable to address the requirements of the planning condition. 

On this basis, it would be appropriate to impose a “compliance with” condition in 
relation to drainage details. 

 
 
7.9 CIL 

 
7.9.1 The Mayor of London and London Borough of Bromley's CIL are material 

considerations.  CIL would be payable on this application and the applicant has 
completed the relevant form. 

 

 
7.10 OTHER MATTERS 

 

7.10.1 Concerns have been raised by neighbouring residents with regards to the impact of 
the construction works/construction phase of development on neighbouring amenity 

as well as upon highways matters.  
 

7.10.2 It is not generally the case that the impact of construction will represent a strong 
material planning consideration as it is in its very nature time-limited, with the impact 
not extending beyond the construction phase. Building operations/construction works 

can cause annoyance, but this impact is usually short-lived, confined to the 
construction period, and does not represent a ground for the refusal of planning 

permission.  
 
7.10.3 The applicant has submitted as a supporting document a proposed Construction and 

Environmental Management Plan dated April 2023 which includes commitments with 
regards to dust mitigation and management and refers to hours of construction which 

are consistent with the Council’s code of practice for construction.  

Page 33



 
7.10.4 Other comments have referred to the build duration and the value of the proposed 

dwelling, although this latter point appears to relate to the “drop down box” on the 
application form relating to the estimated total cost of the proposal, rather than the 

eventual property value. The applicant has similarly provided on the application form 
a nominal indication of the likely duration of the build, although this is not a material 
planning consideration in the assessment of this particular proposal.  

 
 

8.  CONCLUSION 
 

8.1 The application is considered to be acceptable in that it would not result in a 

substantial harm to the character and visual amenities of the area or to the residential 
amenities of neighbouring residents. Subject to conditions, the proposal would not 

have a detrimental impact on ecology or biodiversity nor on conditions of safety and 
the free flow of traffic. The proposal would provide an acceptable standard of 
accommodation for future occupants and would provide an additional dwelling which 

would make a minor contribution to the Borough's housing supply. 
 

8.2 In the light of the recent planning history of the site, it is not considered that the refusal 
of planning permission would be justified. The planning policy framework relative to 
the site and specific proposals has not changed significantly such that would now 

introduce grounds for refusal that would be readily sustainable on appeal or which 
would reverse the Inspector’s judgement in the previous application.  

 
8.3 There are no adverse impact arising from the scheme that are considered to clearly 

and demonstrably outweigh the contribution that the development would make to 

housing supply.  
 

8.3 Background papers referred to during production of this report comprise all 
correspondence on the files set out in the Planning History section above, excluding 
exempt information. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION 
 

 

Subject to the following conditions: 
 

 Standard conditions 
 

 1. Statutory time limit (3 years) 

 2. Compliance with submitted documents/drawings 
 
 Above ground 
 

 3. External materials to be submitted 

 4. Landscaping (hard and soft) (including tree/plant retentions/replacements, boundary 
treatments and hardstanding(s), and position and number of artificial bat and bird boxes) 

 5. Details of parking and turning area, including EVCP 

Page 34



 6. Details of refuse storage 
 7. Details of cycle storage 

  
 

 No further details required/compliance 
 

 8. Construction and Environmental Management Plan 

 9. SUDS – surface water drainage scheme 
 10. Remove permitted development rights – Classes A/B/C and E 

 11. Installation of low NOx boiler  
12. Slab levels (compliance) 
13. Compliance with Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

 
 

And delegated authority be given to the Assistant Director: Planning & Building 
Control to make variations to the conditions and to add any other planning 
condition(s) as considered necessary. 

  
 

 Informatives 
 

 Contamination – contact Environmental Health 

 CIL 
 Street Naming and Numbering 

 Attention drawn to the recommendations of the Orpington Field Club 
 
      

 
 

Page 35



This page is left intentionally blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2023.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.

1:125005 September 2023

23/01969/FULL1

 

Page 37



This page is left intentionally blank



 
Committee Date 

 
14.09.2023 

 

Address 
Churchill Court  

Masons Hill  
Bromley 
BR1 1DP 

Application 

Number 
23/02946/ADV Officer:  Nicolas Graves 

Ward Bromley Town 
Proposal Installation of 5 x non-illuminated 'Bromley Civic Centre' lettered 

fascia signs 
Applicant 

 

Mr Colin Brand 

Agent 

 

 

London Borough of Bromley 

Civic Centre 
Stockwell Close 
Bromley 

BR1 3UH 

 

Reason for referral to 
committee 

 

LBB Application 

Councillor call in 

 No 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

 

Grant Advertisement Consent 

 
KEY DESIGNATIONS 

 

Area of Deficiency in Access to Nature 
Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area 
Bromley Town Centre Area 

Flood Zone 2 
London City Airport Safeguarding 

Proposal Sites 
River Centre Line 
Secondary Shopping Frontage 

Smoke Control 

 
Representation  
summary  

 
 

Neighbour letters were sent out on 31.07.2023. The consultation 
period is for 21 days.  

Total number of responses  0 

Number in support  0 

Number of objections 0 

 

 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4.2



1.  SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION  
 

 The proposed signage would not appear unduly prominent.  

 No unacceptable impact would arise to neighbouring occupiers or public amenity. 

 No unacceptable Highways impacts would arise. 
 
2.  LOCATION AND KEY CONSTRAINTS 
 

2.1.1  The application site lies on the corner of Westmoreland Road and Masons Hill and 

lies within the Bromley Town Centre (Metropolitan Centre).  
 

2.1.2 The host building comprises a multi-storey commercial building complex arranged 
around a central courtyard.  

 

2.1.3 The surrounding area is dominated by commercial uses and the high traffic  
movements on the surrounding road network. The site is neither listed nor located 

within a conservation area. 
 
 

Figure 1: Site Location Plan 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 40



3.  PROPOSAL 
 

3.1.1 Advertisement consent is sought for the installation of 5 x non-illuminated ‘Bromley 
Civic Centre’ lettered fascia signs.  

 
3.1.2 The signs will replace the existing ‘Direct Line’ sings at 5 locations on the building.  
 

3.1.3 The fascia signs will be aluminium with powdered coated white text lettering and no 
background.  

 
3.1.4 The maximum projection of the signs from the face building will be 25mm.  
 

Proposed Sign A to east elevation (High Street side):  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 41



Proposed Signs B & C to east elevation (Masons Hill/Westmoreland Rd side): 

 
 

 
Proposed Sign D to west elevation (Westmoreland Rd side): 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 42



Proposed Sign E to north elevation: 

 
   

 
     

4.  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

4.1 The relevant planning history relating to the application site is summarised as follows: 

 
00/02355/ADV - 3 Externally illuminated canopy signs (Advertisement Consent 
granted) 

 
03/00560/FULL1 - Extension to existing accommodation at 7th floor level (Permitted) 

 
03/01437/ADV - Externally illuminated free standing and 2 internally illuminated wall 
signs (El Patio Restaurant) (Advertisement Consent granted) 

 
03/01439/ADV - Internally illuminated wall signs (Advertisement Consent granted) 

 
07/00273/ADV - Illuminated and non-illuminated replacement logo signs at front/side 
and rear elevations and non-illuminated entrance sign to multi-storey car park 

Simpsons Road ADDITIONAL SIGNS ADDED (Advertisement Consent granted) 
 

12/00758/ADV - Illuminated and non illuminated replacement logo signs at front and 
side elevations (Advertisement Consent granted) 
 

12/00758/SPLADV - Non-illuminated totem pole (Refused) 
 

12/02201/ADV - Internally illuminated fascia panel with halo illuminated signs 
(Refused). 

Page 43



 
12/02963/ADV - Internally illuminated logo sign and halo illuminated lettering 

(Advertisement Consent granted) 
 

14/01206/ADV - Installation of 1 non-illuminated totem sign (Advertisement Consent 
granted) 
 

21/04855/FULL1 - Installation of roof over central courtyard area with green roof 
areas and formation of roof terrace, alterations to landscaping within central 

courtyard including formation of ramps and provision of seating, external elevational 
alterations to front (Permitted) 

 

 
5.  CONSULTATION SUMMARY 

 
A)  Statutory  
 

5.1  Highways: No objection raised to proposal.  
 

B)  Local Groups 
 

5.2  N/A 

 
C)  Adjoining Occupiers 

 

5.3  No representations were received. 
  
6.  POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 
 

6.1.1 Section 3(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) 
Regulations 2007 sets out that in considering and determining applications for 
advertising consent the local planning authority shall exercise its powers under these 

Regulations in the interests of amenity and public safety, taking into account: -  
 

(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as they are material; and  
(b) any other relevant factors. 
 

6.1.2 Section 3(2) states that without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (1)(b) (above) 
 

(a) factors relevant to amenity include the general characteristics of the locality, 
including the presence of any feature of historic, architectural, cultural or similar 
interest; 

(b) factors relevant to public safety include: 
(i) the safety of persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or 

aerodrome (civil or military);  
(ii) whether the display of the advertisement in question is likely to obscure, or hinder 
the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal or aid to navigation by water 

or air;  

Page 44



(iii) whether the display of the advertisement in question is likely to hinder the 
operation of any device used for the purpose of security or surveillance or for 

measuring the speed of any vehicle. 
 

6.1.3 The development plan for Bromley comprises the Bromley Local Plan (Jan 2019) and 
the London Plan (March 2021).  The NPPF does not change the legal status of the 
development plan. 

 
London Plan (2021) relevant policies: 

 
D1 London’s Form, Character and Capacity for Growth 
D4 Delivering Good Design 

D8 Public Realm 
 

Bromley Local Plan (2019) relevant policies: 
  

32 Road Safety 

33 Access for All 
37 General Design of Development 

102 Advertisements  
 
7.  ASSESSMENT 

 
7.1  Design – Layout, scale – Acceptable 

 

7.1.1 London Plan and Bromley Local Plan policies further reinforce the principles of  
the NPPF setting out a clear rationale for high quality design. Policy 37 of the  

Bromley Local Plan sets out a number of criteria for the design of new development. 
With regard to local character and appearance development  

should be imaginative and attractive to look at, should complement the scale, form, 
layout and materials of adjacent buildings and areas. 
 

7.1.2  Policy 102 states that advertisements, hoardings and signs should: 
a - have regard to the character of the surrounding area, 

b - be in keeping with the scale, form and character of any buildings on which  
they are placed, 
c - generally not be located in residential areas and the Green Belt,  

Metropolitan Open Land (MOL) and Urban Open Space, 
d - preserve or enhance the character or appearance of conservation area, 

e - not be likely to create a hazard to road users, and 
f - avoid harm to the significance of listed buildings. 
 

7.1.3 The proposed signs would replace existing signage and would be appropriate and in 
the context of the surrounding area. The lettering would be non-illuminated and would 

not appear unduly prominent within the wider street scene.   
 

7.1.4 The proposal is considered to comply with Policies 37 and 102 of the Local Plan and 

it would not have a detrimental impact on the visual amenities of the area. 
 

 

Page 45



7.2    Neighbouring Amenity – Acceptable 

7.2.1 The proposed signage will be non-illuminated and would replace similar existing 
signage and is not considered to impact upon residential amenity. 
 

7.3    Highways – Acceptable 

 
7.3.1  In relation to pedestrian and highway safety, no objections have been raised by  

the Council's highways officer. The location and design of the non-illuminated signs 
will not result in a road safety hazard or interference with any visibility splays. 

    
8.  CONCLUSION 

 

8.1.  Having had regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed signage is 
acceptable is acceptable as it will not harm amenity or public safety and should 
therefore be granted advertisement consent. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT 

 

 
Subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. Standard – maintenance of sign 

2. Standard – maintenance of sign support/structure 
3. Standard – removal of sign in accordance with Advert Regulations 
4. Standard – consent of the landowner 

5. Standard – time limit of 5 years 
6. Standard – compliance with the approved plan 

7. No illumination 
 

And delegated authority be given to the Assistant Director: Planning & Building 

Control to make variations to the conditions and to add any other planning 
condition(s) as considered necessary. 

    

Page 46



© Crown copyright and database rights 2023.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.

1:125005 September 2023

23/02946/ADV

 

Page 47



This page is left intentionally blank


	Agenda
	3 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 25th MAY 2023
	Minutes

	4.1 (23/01969/FULL1) 26 Copthorne Avenue, Bromley, BR2 8NN.
	26 Copthorne Avenue

	4.2 (23/02946/ADV) - Churchill Court Masons Hill, Bromley, BR1 1DP
	Churchill Court


